THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-000460

RECEIVED
DEC 20 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Assistive Technology Medical
Equipment Services, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC; Donna Cash, as
Representative of the Estate of Dorothy Connelly;
W. Applegate, III, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of James B. Connelly; Kimberly Cuce; and Phillip DeClemente Defendants,

Of whom, Phillip DeClemente is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Cameron L. Marshall
7 Gamecock Avenue, Ste. 707

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court commit error as a matter of law by failing to dismiss ATMES' complaint because Respondent and Appellant are parties to a mutual Full and Final Release of all potential claims involving ATMES?
- II. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to set aside default when there was abundant good cause to do so?
 - A. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to set aside default when DeClemente's delay in answering was unintentional and not unreasonable?
 - B. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to set aside default when DeClemente has multiple meritorious defenses, including a Full and Final Release barring ATMES' lawsuit?
 - C. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to set aside default when allowing the case to be decided on the merits would not prejudice ATMES?
- III. Did the trial court commit error by ordering DeClemente to pay damages?
 - A. Did the trial court commit error by failing to allow DeClemente's presence at important stages of the damages hearing?
 - B. Did the trial court commit error by failing to order the judgment satisfied, as required by the Full and Final Release?
 - C. Did the trial court commit error by allowing ATMES' CPA to testify as an expert witness against his former client, DeClemente?
- IV. Did the trial court commit error by ruling that DeClemente was served with the Summons and Complaint on December 1, 2011?
- V. Does ATMES' six-and-a-half-year pursuit of its meritless lawsuit entitle Appellant to the award of costs and fees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from Circuit Court Judge J.C. Nicholson's default order against Mr. Phillip DeClemente and from Circuit Court Judge Deadra L. Jefferson's order awarding damages in the amount of Eight Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand One Hundred Forty-Four Dollars (\$875,144.00) (R. pp. 6-10; R. pp. 18-30).

The underlying lawsuit arose from a dispute among former business partners and one of their accountants, Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC. Appellant DeClemente is the former manager and minority owner of Abacare Home Medical, Inc. ("Abacare"), a durable medical equipment ("DME") company which was located in Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina. He is also the former manager and 25% owner of Assistive Technology Medical Equipment Services, Inc. ("ATMES"), a DME company in Sumter, South Carolina.

On October 31, 2011 ATMES filed its Summons and Complaint in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, wherein Respondent set forth nine (9) causes of action against defendants Hood & Selander, CPA, LLC; Donna C. Cash as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dorothy Connelly; W.E. Applegate, III, as Personal Representative of the Estate of James B. Connelly; Kimberly Cuce and Phillip DeClemente. (R. pp. 42-52). Respondent's Complaint alleges that ATMES entered into a stock purchase and stock option assignment agreement with Defendant Dorothy A. Connelly (the Seller) and Defendant DeClemente (the Assignor) on November 7, 2008 for the purchase of Abacare's common stock. (R. pp. 39-42). ATMES purchased all of Connelly's outstanding common stock for Eight Hundred Nine Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$809,500.00). (R. p. 40). ATMES contends that the Defendants were aware that Abacare "significantly understated" its sales tax liability to the South Carolina Department of Revenue ("SCDOR") and failed to disclose to Abacare's purchasers, Jeff Reed

and Murrell Smith, Abacare's actual sales tax liability (R. p. 40). As a result of Defendants' alleged failure to disclose known tax liability, ATMES, on behalf of its owners Smith and Reed, alleges that it overpaid for Abacare's stock in the amount of Seven Hundred Seventy-Four Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$774,500) (R. p. 393, lines 20-22).

Appellant DeClemente was served with the Summons and Complaint on January 6, 2012 (R. pp. 58-59). DeClemente was involuntarily hospitalized for psychiatric illness from February 2, 2012 until February 16, 2012 and hospitalized again for the illness between February 19, 2012 and March 6, 2012 (R. pp. 100-110; R. pp. 114-122). After his release from the hospital, DeClemente underwent intensive court-ordered outpatient care. Respondent filed an Affidavit of Default with the Charleston County Clerk of Court on March 30, 2012 (R. pp. 60-61). The Clerk of Court never made an entry of default. Appellant does not know the reason default was not entered, as required by SCRPC 55.

On May 9, 2012 Mr. DeClemente hired attorney Cameron Marshall to represent him in this litigation against ATMES. On May 14, 2012 attorney Marshall filed a Notice of Appearance with the Clerk of Court (R. p. 708). On June 8, 2012 DeClemente's counsel sent ATMES' co-owner and legal agent, Murrell Smith, a letter requesting that Plaintiff correct its default on promissory note payments owed to DeClemente in exchange for DeClemente having sold his 25% ownership of ATMES to Smith, Reed, and Cuce (R. p. 709). The sale contract requires that such letter be sent in case of ATMES' default (R. p. 87). On June 12, 2012 Mr. Smith responded to DeClemente's counsel with a letter acknowledging ATMES indebtedness to DeClemente, but stating that ATMES would not pay any balances owed to DeClemente because, "we have filed suit....and he is now in default....we are awaiting a damages hearing to be scheduled for the

Court to set the damages and we intend to set-off any amounts awarded by the Court” (R. pp. 84-85).

On August 10, 2012 DeClemente filed an Answer, Counterclaims, Cross Claims and a Motion for Enlargement of Time in Which to Answer pursuant to Rules 6 and 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (“SCRCP”) (R. pp. 62-63). Even though default was never entered against DeClemente, in an abundance of caution, the motion for time extension was amended to include a request for relief from entry of default pursuant to SCRCP 55(c).

The hearing on DeClemente’s Motion to Enlarge Time to Answer was scheduled for September 22, 2012. Respondent’s counsel, James E. Smith, requested and was granted a continuance. The next hearing date was set for January 7, 2013. On the morning of the scheduled hearing, attorney Smith requested, and was granted, another continuance. The hearing was then scheduled for March 13, 2013. On March 12, 2013 Respondent’s counsel requested, and was granted, another continuance. The hearing was next rescheduled for April 12, 2013. On April 11, 2013 attorney Smith again requested a continuance, which was granted. The hearing was then rescheduled for July 16, 2013. On July 12, 2013 attorney Smith requested, and was granted, another continuance. The hearing was next rescheduled for September 3, 2013. On August 30, 2013 attorney Smith requested another continuance, which was granted. The hearing was then rescheduled for November 5, 2013. On November 1, 2013 Respondent’s counsel made yet another motion for continuance. On November 4, 2013 DeClemente’s attorney sent Judge Nicholson a letter, with copies to all attorneys of record, requesting that Judge Nicholson deny the motion for continuance because of the previous number of continuances and the hardships the delays were causing Mr. DeClemente (R. pp. 710-711). Judge Nicholson then proceeded to grant Plaintiff’s eighth continuance request. The hearing was rescheduled for December 16,

2013. On November 5, 2013 DeClemente filed a Memorandum in Support for Enlargement of Time in Which to Answer (R. pp. 79-122).

On December 16, 2013 Judge Nicholson heard arguments on DeClemente's Motion to Extend Time to Answer under SCRCP 6 and 60. The motion was amended to include a request for relief from entry of default pursuant to SCRCP 55(c), despite the fact that default was never entered against Appellant (R. p. 213, lines 1-3). At the hearing, Appellant argued, inter alia:

- 1) DeClemente's answer asserts nine (9) meritorious defenses pursuant to the Full and Final Release which Reed and Smith executed as a part of the sale contract in which DeClemente conveyed his 25% ownership of ATMES, including; ATMES' lack of standing to sue DeClemente (R. pp. 68-70, 227, lines 11-20).
- 2) Because DeClemente knew he could not be legally sued by ATMES, Reed or Smith, he was surprised by the lawsuit and mistakenly believed he was unintentionally and inadvertently named as a defendant;
- 3) Due to involuntary hospitalization, court-ordered psychiatric treatment, and ongoing psychiatric illness DeClemente was unable to answer the Complaint in a timely manner and;
- 4) ATMES would not be prejudiced by allowing DeClemente to answer the Complaint and have the case resolved by jury trial.

Judge Nicholson took the motion under advisement and allowed the record to be supplemented. On December 30, 2013 DeClemente filed an affidavit supporting his request for Enlargement of Time to Answer (R. pp. 111-112).

On April 30, 2014 Judge Nicholson filed his order denying DeClemente's Motion to Extend Time and/or Relief from Default and held him in default (R. pp. 6-10). The court also

struck DeClemente's Answer and Counterclaims and denied entry of his Crossclaims. The court also denied DeClemente's Motion for Default Judgment against ATMES on the basis that ATMES had no obligation to respond to DeClemente's Counterclaims unless and until DeClemente is relieved from default and permitted to enter his Answer and Counterclaims. A damages hearing was to be set for the next term of Court.

DeClemente filed a Motion to Amend Judge Nicholson's April 24, 2014 Order (R. pp. 127-128). Judge Nicholson denied the Motion To Amend by Order filed May 7, 2014. On June 3, 2014 DeClemente filed an appeal with the Court of Appeals challenging Judge Nicholson's Order of Default (R. pp. 130-131). By Order filed November 13, 2014 the South Carolina Court of Appeals declined to consider DeClemente's appeal because the default order was not immediately appealable since the "circuit court has not yet made an award of damages." The Remittitur was issued on November 13, 2014 (R. pp. 11-13).

On September 19, 2016 ATMES filed a Motion for Hearing on Damages. The damages hearing was scheduled for October 31, 2016. On October 28, 2016 Appellant's counsel received notice from the Clerk of Court that the damages hearing was being rescheduled for November 1, 2016 because there was a related hearing scheduled for November 1st and consolidation would prevent the attorneys from going to court on consecutive days. DeClemente's presence was not needed for the November 1st hearing and he was ordered to return to Florida immediately after the October 31st damages hearing. The Clerk of Court's office informed attorney Marshall by phone that the damages hearing would not be held on November 1st because of time constraints caused by a full schedule of hearings on the 1st. When the case was called on November 1st, Appellant's counsel requested a continuance and explained the multiple reasons for the request (R. pp. 343-381). The court rudely and angrily denied the continuance request (R. pp 383-386).

The damages hearing then proceeded for several hours while all the litigants in the overflowing courtroom were made to wait.

At the time of the damages hearing DeClemente was on probation in Florida for an offense in South Carolina. A South Carolina circuit court order permitting travel was required each time DeClemente entered South Carolina. Appellant was prevented by law from attending the rescheduled damages hearing on November 1st because the order allowing him to travel to South Carolina to attend the hearing, filed by the Chief Administrative Judge on October 27, 2016, contained only the original hearing date of October 31, 2016.

At the damages hearing Respondent called its “expert” witness, Art Bradham, and Murrell Smith to testify. Over defense counsel’s objection, the Court qualified Bradham as a Certified Valuation Analyst and Economic expert for purposes of rendering an opinion on damages (R. pp. 386-435). Defense counsel further objected to Bradham’s testimony due to Bradham’s glaring conflict of interest, as DeClemente is Bradham’s former client. Bradham testified that ATMES showed a loss of over \$900,000.00 on its tax returns, allegedly as a result of ATMES paying a \$100,000 sales tax liability incurred by its subsidiary, Abacare (R. pp. 426, 431-432). Bradham testified that Respondent’s damages were the result of DeClemente’s fraudulent, conspiratorial conduct.

When the damages hearing began on November 1, 2016 DeClemente was the only remaining defendant. Defendant Kimberly Cuce has not answered nor appeared in this lawsuit, despite being served with the Summons and Complaint on February 21, 2012. ATMES has not sought a default judgment against Cuce or otherwise pursued its claims against her. The causes of action against DeClemente at the damages hearing were fraud, negligence, negligent misrepresentation, promissory estoppel, and civil conspiracy.

On December 28, 2016 ATMES filed a motion to quash in response to DeClemente's subpoena ordering Bradham to produce documents relevant to damages. DeClemente filed a motion to compel subpoena compliance on December 29, 2016 but Judge Jefferson failed to rule on the motion despite DeClemente's counsel again raising the issue at the damages hearing.

The damages hearing was reconvened on January 5, 2017. ATMES' counsel, James Smith, was present at the hearing. DeClemente and his counsel, Cameron Marshall, were also present. At the outset of the hearing, DeClemente's counsel again objected to moving forward with the damages hearing on the basis that ATMES' counsel was preventing DeClemente from obtaining from Art Bradham subpoenaed documents crucial to an accurate damages determination (R. pp. 467-469). In response, ATMES counsel notified the Court of its pending Motion to Quash the Subpoena and for Protective Order, filed December 28, 2016. The motion asks the Court to quash DeClemente's subpoena to Art Bradham seeking documents extremely relevant to damages. Appellant filed a Motion to Compel Subpoena Compliance on December 29, 2016. At the damages hearing Judge Jefferson failed to rule upon DeClemente's Motion to Compel. During the damages hearing DeClemente testified that, in the event of a damages award, the South Carolina Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act entitles him to a credit or "set off" for any settlement amounts ATMES received from Appellant's co-defendants.

On January 24, 2017 DeClemente filed a supplemental Motion to Consider Evidence of Damages, Adopt Proposed Order, and Reconvene Damages Hearing (R. pp. 15-17). In this motion, Appellant asks the Court to reconvene the damages hearing, determine settlement amounts paid by co-defendants and adopt his proposed damages order. On July 27, 2017 the Court conducted a hearing with attorneys Marshall and Smith by telephone to address

Appellant's January 24, 2017 motions. The Court denied Appellant's motions on July 27, 2017 (R. pp. 15-17).

On August 23, 2017 DeClemente filed an expert affidavit from Ronald H. Burkett, CPA, CVA (R. pp. 156-159). The parties deposed Mr. Burkett on September 14, 2017. The Court was provided with a copy of the deposition transcript on October 11, 2017. Mr. Burkett prepared the confidential draft valuation of Abacare's common stock on or about July 14, 2008 (R. pp. 568-625). At his deposition, Mr. Burkett was asked to give his opinion on whether or not ATMES was damaged by the Abacare stock purchase and assignment agreement it entered into with Connelly and DeClemente. Mr. Burkett testified that since ATMES and its owners Smith and Reed and their CPA Bradham had, or should have had, knowledge that there was a potential sales tax issue with Abacare at the time of purchase, as there was with all South Carolina DME companies at that time, then ATMES paid fair market value for Abacare and suffered no damage (R. pp. 556-557, 560-567).

On December 20, 2017 Judge Jefferson issued her Order awarding ATMES actual damages of Eight Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand One Hundred Forty-Four dollars (\$875,144.00). This is the exact amount of damages Bradham claimed ATMES suffered (R. p. 483). January 8, 2018 DeClemente filed a Motion to Amend Judgment and Be Relieved from Judgment (R. pp. 160-161). Pursuant to SCRCP 59, DeClemente's motion requests that the Court's Order be amended to reflect that the damage award has been satisfied by the "Full and Final Release." Pertaining to satisfaction of judgment, the Full and Final Release states in pertinent part,

"...release, acquit and forever discharge Phillip L. DeClemente... from any and all claims, actions, causes of action, demands, rights, damages, cost, loss of services, expenses and compensation

whatsoever which the undersigned now has or which may have hereinafter accrue on accounts of or in any way growing out of any and all ownership interest or employment in any of the entities set forth above whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen and any consequences thereof, resulting or to result from ownership of any of the Companies referenced-above, employment in or with any of the entities referenced-above..." (R. pp. 96-98).

DeClemente's motion also asserts that he is entitled to relief because the complaint was brought with fraudulent misconduct and the judgment is void. On January 26, 2018 Judge Jefferson filed an Order denying DeClemente's Motion to Amend Judgment (R. pp. 31-34). Appellant served Respondent with Notice of Appeal on March 2, 2018 (R. pp. 162-163).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November 2008 DeClemente, Cuce, Reed and Smith decided to become partners and purchase all of Abacare's outstanding stock shares from the Estate of Dorothy Connelly. Prior to purchasing Abacare, DeClemente, Cuce, Reed and Smith formed ATMES, a DME company located in Sumter, South Carolina. ATMES was registered with the South Carolina Secretary of State on November 5, 2008. As part of the Abacare purchase, DeClemente assigned all of his financial interest in Abacare, in the form of stock purchase options, to ATMES. Reliable Medical Equipment Services, Inc. ("Reliable") is a South Carolina DME company owned at that time by Murrell Smith, Reed and Cuce. Abacare and Reliable joined forces and merged into ATMES in November 2008. Mr. DeClemente, Mr. Reed, Mr. Smith, and Ms. Cuce then each became twenty-five percent (25%) owners of ATMES, the parent company of Abacare and Reliable.

Mr. DeClemente had disagreements with Mr. Smith and Mr. Reed over management of ATMES and its subsidiaries, Abacare and Reliable. On June 30, 2009 DeClemente sold his twenty-five percent ownership in ATMES to Smith and Reed for \$330,382.59 plus a \$30,000 compliance bonus, totaling \$360,382.59 owed to Mr. DeClemente (R. pp. 86-90; 632-636). The

sale contract contains a mutual Full and Final Release, in which ATMES', Reed, Smith, and DeClemente agree never to sue one another for any reason whatsoever, known or unknown, related to the signatories' business relationship (R. pp. 96-98). Murrell Smith required the Full and Final Release as part of the sale contract and he wrote the document.

Between 2006 and 2009 there was an issue in South Carolina concerning whether or not many DME products were exempt from sales taxes. The Administrative Law Court issued a ruling in August of 2007 in favor of exemption (R. pp. 167, 172, 177-178). SCDOR appealed the Administrative Law Court's ruling. The South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the decision in April of 2009. *Home Medical Systems, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 677 S.E. 2d 582 (2009). As a result of the Supreme Court's decision, SCDOR audited many South Carolina DME companies. Some of the audited DME companies, including Smith and Reed's Reliable Inc., had been party to a class action lawsuit against SCDOR in which the Plaintiffs alleged sales tax overpayments and sought refunds. DeClemente, Abacare's managing partner at the time *Home Medical Systems v. SCDOR* was filed, declined to have Abacare join the class action because he was unconvinced by the argument that SCDOR owed the Plaintiffs refunds. SCDOR's audit of Smith and Reed's DME Co., Reliable, resulted in Reliable owing SCDOR over \$250,000 in unpaid sales tax for the time period prior to ATMES' formation and Reliable's merger with Abacare (R. pp. 637-685).

ATMES' CPA Art Bradham then conducted a self-audit on Abacare for the years 2007-2009 and believed that Abacare owed sales tax because of the Supreme Court's *Home Medical Systems* decision, *supra* (R. pp. 686-701). The audit was conducted 18 months after DeClemente sold his ownership in ATMES and approximately 23 months after the Supreme Court's *Home Medical* decision.

Abacare had no outstanding sales tax liability prior to the Supreme Court's *Home Medical* decision. That ruling made sales taxes applicable to many more products. The Abacare tax liability found in the self-audit accrued partially during a time period when Connelly and DeClemente owned Abacare and partially during a time period when ATMES owned Abacare (R. pp. 686-701). Prior to ATMES purchasing Abacare, Abacare always lawfully paid all sales tax owed and was fully compliant with South Carolina tax law as interpreted by the Administrative Law Court in the *Home Medical* decision. A portion of the sales tax liability SCDOR assessed against Abacare was for the year 2010, well after DeClemente had sold his 25% ownership in ATMES.

On October 31, 2011 ATMES filed this lawsuit, 2011-CP-10-08011, in Charleston County Court of Common Pleas (R. pp. 35-57). The Complaint alleges Mr. DeClemente and the other Defendants acted fraudulently and misled purchasers Smith and Reed about Abacare's value by failing to disclose to them Abacare's true sales tax liability owed to the South Carolina Department of Revenue. As evidence alleged to support their false allegations ATMES, through its owners Smith and Reed, relied upon the "expert" testimony of CPA Art Bradham. Mr. Bradham testified at his deposition, and stated by affidavit, that he believes Mr. DeClemente and the other Defendants fraudulently inflated Abacare's value by failing to disclose to Smith, Reed, and their CPA, Bradham himself, Abacare's potential sales tax liability (R. pp. 186, 191). The extent of Mr. Bradham's due diligence while investigating Abacare's value on behalf of his clients Smith and Reed consisted only of reviewing a confidential draft of an Abacare valuation report created by a different CPA firm for the exclusive use of Mrs. Connelly and Mr. DeClemente (R. pp. 568-625). Mr. Bradham testified that he does not know how he came into

possession of the confidential document but admits that it was clearly stamped “confidential” and that he knew he was not the intended recipient (R. pp. 193-194, 197-198, 200-203, 208).

Mr. Bradham falsely testified during his October 18, 2013 deposition, during which he purported to be an expert witness in the case, that he had no role in the audit of Abacare. In fact, however, Bradham was involved in the audit, which resulted in a finding that Abacare, Reliable, and the parent company, ATMES, had all underpaid sales taxes because of the retrospective provisions of the *Home Medical* ruling (R. pp. 187-188, 189-190, 192, 686-701). Mr. Bradham’s “expert” testimony against Mr. DeClemente constitutes a conflict of interest and professional negligence, as Mr. Bradham is Mr. DeClemente’s former CPA. In violation of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Code of Professional Conduct, Bradham testified as an expert witness against his former client, DeClemente. Bradham’s testimony was false, damaging to Mr. DeClemente and in violation of the AICPA’s Code of Professional Conduct, Rules 1.100 and 1.200 (AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, R. 1.100.011, R. 1.110.012(a), R. 1.200.11, R. 1.210.010).

Contrary to Respondent’s claims, Mr. Bradham, Mr. Smith and Mr. Reed were each quite aware of the accounting and sales tax reporting practices Abacare employed prior to Smith and Reed purchasing Abacare. Smith, Reed, and their CPA, Bradham, used similar accounting and sales tax reporting practices during Smith and Reed’s nine-year ownership of Reliable. (R. pp. 171, 179-178). As a result of these practices, which were common and completely legal at the time utilized, Reliable, Abacare, and ATMES owed SCDOR past sales taxes only after the Supreme Court’s reversal in *Home Medical* (R. p. 190). These past sales taxes were assessed against Reliable for the same reasons they were assessed against Abacare for the time period before ATMES purchased Abacare. (R. pp. 199, 203-207).

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