THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-10-08011
Appellate Case No. 2018-000460

RECEIVED
OCT 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Assistive Technology Medical
Equipment Services, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Hood & Selander, CPAS, LLC; Donna C. Cash,
as Personal Representative of the Estate of
Dorothy A. Connelly; W.E. Applegate, III;
as Personal Representative of the Estate of
James B. Connelly, Kimberly Cuce; Phillip DeClemente, Defendants,

Of whom Phillip DeClemente is the Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court's reasoning was grounded in the controlling law and in the record. A party must first give a good explanation for being in default. Default may then be set aside after considering the timing of the motion for relief as well as other factors. The circuit court found there was not a good explanation for the default and that the motion for relief from default was not made promptly. Those findings were sound. DeClemente cannot show an abuse of discretion.

DeClemente's various arguments for reversal are either foreclosed by the fact that he has admitted the allegations against him by virtue of his default or waived because they were not properly presented to the circuit court. Though the Court need not go further, it is worth noting DeClemente's arguments are also wrong. This Court should affirm.

A. The circuit court correctly found there was not a good explanation for DeClemente's default and that the motion to set default aside was not timely.

Rule 55(c), SCRCF allows a circuit court to set aside default "[f]or good cause shown." The circuit court is to consider the timing of the motion for relief, whether the defaulting party has a meritorious defense, and the degree of prejudice to the opposing party, but the court is only required to consider those factors after the defaulting party has given a satisfactory explanation for the default. *Sundown Operating Co.*, 383 S.C. at 607-608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. As previously noted, the decision to grant or deny relief under the rule rests in the circuit court's discretion. *Id.* at 607-608, 681 S.E.2d at 888.

DeClemente cannot demonstrate an abuse of the circuit court's discretion. The circuit court did not make any errors of law. It cited Rule 55(c). (4/30/14 Or.p.3). It quoted the "good cause" standard and it correctly listed the factors the court was required to consider in determining "good cause." *Id.* Nothing about the court's legal analysis was incorrect.

The same is true of the circuit court's factual analysis. The key part of that analysis appears on page four of the order. The court found DeClemente demonstrated "good cause" during his hospitalization, but the court also found DeClemente did not have good cause for failing to answer or otherwise defend the suit from May of 2012 to August of 2012. (*Id.*p.4). That finding is sensible.

It is difficult to understand why there was not an immediate motion to have default set aside in May on the basis of DeClemente's hospitalization. An answer with a general denial could easily have been attached to that motion along with an explanation that further defenses would be forthcoming after time for an adequate investigation. Yet, nothing was filed from May to August. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding there was no good reason why DeClemente did not defend the suit for three months.

It may be instructive to consider another part of the circuit court's order, because although the circuit court's analysis was grounded in the lack of a good reason for the delay in action from May of 2012 to August, the circuit court's order also explains other facts came to light during the hearing on DeClemente's request for relief from default.

Specifically, the hearing disclosed another lawyer had been assisting DeClemente before his hospitalization and before he retained his present counsel. (12/16/13 Tr.p.15, lines 21-23). DeClemente said he had a different law firm "working on this issue" and that he did not realize he had to answer the suit. *Id.* The court noted at the hearing that the language on the summons was clear, and the court ultimately found DeClemente knew he had to answer the complaint and that he had the benefit of counsel around the time he was served with the complaint. (4/30/14 Or.p.4). Those findings are not challenged and are the law of the case.

The circuit court's decision fits well with existing precedent. Multiple cases confirm a circuit court has the discretion to let default stand when the default results from inattentiveness or neglect. *Regions Bank v. Owens*, 402 S.C. 642, 648-649, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54-55 (Ct. App. 2013) (some evidence supported the circuit court's finding that a party did not take adequate steps to protect himself); *Dixon v. Besco Eng'g*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d

636 (Ct. App. 1995) (default upheld when lawyer mistakenly believed he had been granted an unlimited extension to answer); *Williams v. Vanvolkenburg*, 312 S.C. 373, 375, 440 S.E.2d 408, 409 (Ct. App. 1994) (lawyer's negligence in failing to answer is imputed to client); *Mitchell Supply Co. v. Gaffney*, 297 S.C. 160, 164-165, 375 S.E.2d 321, 324 (Ct. App. 1988) (same). Indeed, it would be difficult to reconcile a decision reversing the circuit court with precedent. When construing the statutory predecessor to Rule 55, the Supreme Court said the discretionary power to grant relief from default:

is vested in the trial, not the appellate, court. In an appeal from such an order of the circuit court it is not our function, nor is it within our power, to substitute our judgment for that of the circuit judge simply because we might have reached a different conclusion had we been in his place.

Williams v. Ray, 232 S.C. 373, 381, 102 S.E.2d 368, 372 (1958).

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in finding no good cause for DeClemente's delay in answering this lawsuit and that his request for relief was untimely. This Court should affirm.

B. Those findings foreclosed DeClemente's motion under the more stringent standard applicable for relief from a default judgment under Rule 60.

A request for relief from a default judgment under Rule 60(b) requires a stronger showing than a request to set aside default under Rule 55(c). Relief under Rule 55 requires a showing of good cause. Relief under Rule 60 requires a showing of mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, surprise, newly discovered evidence, fraud, misrepresentation, or "other misconduct of an adverse party." *Sundown Operating Co.*, 383 S.C. at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 888 (citing Rule 60(b), SCRCP).

As with the trial court's decision to grant or deny relief under Rule 55, the trial court's decision with respect to a Rule 60 motion is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Id.* at 606, 681 S.E.2d at 888.

The circuit court denied DeClemente's request for relief from the default judgment finding his arguments for relief were the same arguments he had presented when he sought to have default set aside under Rule 55. (1/26/18 Or.pp.2-3). That finding is accurately represented the record. DeClemente's chief argument to have the judgment set aside was that a release barred the lawsuit. (1/8/18 Mot.). He pointed to the same release as his meritorious defense when he sought leave to file a late answer. (12/16/13 Tr.p.7, lines 4-13; p.18, line 8 - p.19, line 13).

The circuit court's reasoning is also sound logically. The standard for relief under Rule 60 is "more rigorous" than the standard for relief under Rule 55. *Sundown*, 383 S.C. at 608, 681 S.E.2d at 888. If DeClemente was denied relief under Rule 55, it stands to reason he should be denied relief under Rule 60 if he offered the same arguments as before.

It may be worth noting that much of DeClemente's strategy throughout the life of this case was to keep attacking the case on liability even though his motion for relief from default had been denied. ATEMS, Reliable, and Abacare were in the durable medical equipment business. DeClemente believed that Abacare's \$100,000 liability to the Department of Revenue was the result of a 2009 Supreme Court decision that established everyone in the DME business had been under-reporting sales. (1/5/17 Tr.pp.50-51).

In addition to pressing the release at every stage of this litigation, DeClemente consistently argued Reliable had experienced the same problem with sales tax following the

Supreme Court ruling. This was the sole thrust of his expert testimony at the damages hearing. His expert explained certain tax issues in the durable medical equipment business were known or should have been known before ATEMS purchased Abacare and that if ATEMS purchased Abacare with that knowledge, the roughly \$800,000 purchase price reflected fair market value. (Burkett Depo.p.18, lines 13-25).

The problem with that argument was that it was inconsistent with DeClemente being in default. The complaint alleged an accountant had alerted Abacare's shareholders to significant understatements in Abacare's sales back in 2007 and that DeClemente made false representations about Abacare's profits, liabilities, and assets as part of inducing ATEMS to acquire Abacare. (Compl.p.8, ¶¶47-51). These allegations were admitted because "[i]t is well settled that by suffering a default, the defaulting party is deemed to have admitted the truth of the plaintiff's allegations and to have conceded liability." *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 332 S.C. 75, 81, 504 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1998).

There were factual problems with DeClemente's argument too. There was ample testimony that Abacare's financial problems were not typical of other businesses. Various parts of the record describe how an internal audit of Abacare following the Supreme Court's ruling disclosed problems with how Abacare recorded sales and represented its income. (Smith Depo.p.26, line 13 - p.28, line 3; p.44, line 3 - p.45, line 15; p.86, line 4 - p.87, line 8); (Reed Depo.p.210, line 14 - p.211, line 5; p.235, line 2 - p.236, line 18); (11/1/16 Tr.p.84, line 15 - p.85, line 13; p.110, line 24 - p.111, line 18). The conflict between this testimony and DeClemente's testimony would normally present a factual dispute, but it did not do so here. Again, liability had been conclusively established because DeClemente was in default.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying DeClemente relief from the default judgment. DeClemente's chief aim was to challenge liability and he presented the same arguments that had been denied under Rule 55. This Court should affirm.

C. DeClemente's arguments for reversal are foreclosed for procedural reasons and are also wrong on the merits.

DeClemente presents several arguments for reversal. All of these are foreclosed for procedural reasons. Though the court need go no further, they are also wrong on the merits.

His first issue on appeal argues the suit is foreclosed by the release. As explained above, that argument is foreclosed by his being in default. A release would be a defense to liability, but because DeClemente is in default, he has admitted the truth of the allegations against him and is deemed to have admitted liability. *Roche*, 332 S.C. at 81, 504 S.E.2d at 314. It is also worth noting that the release related to DeClemente's buyout and departure from ATEMS in 2009. This lawsuit concerns misrepresentations occurring prior to the formation of ATEMS in 2008. See (Smith Aff. filed 1/9/14 p.2, ¶8).

DeClemente's third issue on appeal is that the circuit court denied him due process by conducting the first day of the damages hearing in his absence and by allowing an accountant to testify "against his former client." Both of these arguments are foreclosed because DeClemente did not present them as grounds in his motion for relief from the default judgment. (1/8/18 Mot.pp.1-2). Both arguments are also wrong. The accountant explained DeClemente was not a former client, (11/1/16 Tr.p.74, lines 5-10), and the sole reason the circuit court conducted a second day of the damages hearing was so DeClemente could be present and testify. (11/1/16 Tr.p.123, lines 1-11). There is no reason to think DeClemente

did not have ample opportunity to rebut anything said during the first day of the damages hearing, and DeClemente was later allowed to submit the affidavit of an expert. DeClemente does not cite any authority supporting the proposition that he was denied due process. Respondent is not aware of any such authority.

DeClemente's fourth issue on appeal is that the circuit court erred in finding service was accomplished in December of 2011 rather than January of 2012. As above, this was not raised as a ground in his motion for relief from the default judgment. It is also difficult to understand why this distinction matters. The circuit court's reasoning was tied to Declemente's inaction from May 2012 to August. As counsel for ATEMS noted below, the distinction between December and January is not material. (12/16/13 Tr.p.24, ll. 12-16).

DeClemente's final issue asks for sanctions under the Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act. No such request was made below. Issues may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006).


CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons this Court should affirm.